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UNITED STATE DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TAMPA DIVISION 

KEVIN FRIEDMAN, VIJAY PATEL, 
JONATHAN SCHOEFF, MICHAEL SCHOEFF, 
and GEORGE SKAFF, 

Plaintiffs, 

v.        Case No.: 8:19-cv-374-T-36CPT 

LONNY BRAMZON, and BRAMZON &  
ASSOCIATES SPECIALTY LITIGATION, LLC, 

Defendants. 
__________________________________________/ 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs, Kevin Friedman, Vijay Patel, Jonathan Schoeff, Michael Schoeff, and George 

Skaff, sue Defendants, Lonny Bramzon (“Bramzon”) and Bramzon & Associates Specialty 

Litigation, LLC (“BASL”), and allege: 

1. This is an action for damages with a value in excess of $75,000, exclusive of 

interest, costs, and fees. 

2. Plaintiff Kevin Friedman is a citizen of Georgia. 

3. Plaintiff Vijay Patel is a citizen of Florida. 

4. Plaintiff Jonathan Schoeff is a citizen of Colorado. 

5. Plaintiff Michael Schoeff is a citizen of Ohio. 

6. Plaintiff George Skaff is a citizen of Ohio. 

7. Defendant Bramzon is a citizen of the District of Columbia and is subject to 

personal jurisdiction in Florida: under section 48.193(1)(a)(1), Florida Statutes, because he 

conducted business in Florida, as set forth below; under section 48.193(1)(a)(2), Florida Statutes, 

because he committed tortious acts within Florida, as set forth below; and under section 
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48.193(2), Florida Statutes, because he engaged in substantial and not isolated activity within 

Florida. 

8. Defendant BASL is a limited liability company formed under the laws of the 

District of Columbia. The sole member of Defendant BASL is Defendant Bramzon, who is a 

citizen of the District of Columbia. Therefore, Defendant BASL is a citizen of the District of 

Columbia. Defendant BASL is subject to personal jurisdiction in Florida: under section 

48.193(1)(a)(1), Florida Statutes, because its agents conducted business in Florida, as set forth 

below; under section 48.193(1)(a)(2), Florida Statutes, because its agents committed tortious acts 

within Florida, as set forth below; under section 48.193(1)(a)(7), Florida Statutes because it 

breached a contract in Florida by failing to perform acts required by the contract to be performed 

in Florida, as set forth below; and under section 48.193(2), Florida Statutes, because it engaged 

in substantial and not isolated activity within Florida. 

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the claims alleged in this 

Complaint under 28 U.S.C. § 1332. 

10. Venue is proper in the Middle District of Florida under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2). 

General Allegations 

11. Plaintiffs invested more than $3 million in securities offered to fund litigation of 

products liability cases for clients of Defendants Bramzon and BASL. 

12. To facilitate these securities offerings, Defendants Bramzon and BASL engaged 

David E. Hammer (“Hammer”). 

13. Hammer formed Smart Legal Solutions, LLC (“Smart Legal”) and its subsidiary 

TRC Funding Group No. 1, LLC (“TRC Funding”), both of which are Florida limited liability 

companies.  
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14. From his office in Tampa, Florida, Hammer served as co-manager and registered 

agent for Smart Legal and TRC Funding, along with co-manager Ghen Sugimoto (“Sugimoto”). 

15. On or about January 26, 2017, Smart Legal prepared a private placement 

memorandum that offered preferred units of membership in TRC Funding in exchange for cash 

investment. 

16. On or about January 27, 2017, Defendant Bramzon, acting as the sole manager 

and stakeholder of Defendant BASL, entered into the Guaranty attached as Exhibit 1, in which 

Defendant BASL agreed to perform all of TRC Funding’s financial obligations to each Plaintiff 

to the same extent and with the same force and effect as if Defendant BASL was the issuer of the 

private placement memorandum for TRC Funding. 

17. Defendants Bramzon and BASL provided Plaintiffs with the Guaranty and private 

placement memorandum to solicit Plaintiffs’ investment and obtain funding for litigation of 

products liability cases for clients of Defendants Bramzon and BASL. 

18. At the time Defendants Bramzon and BASL provided Plaintiffs with the Guaranty 

and private placement memorandum, Defendants Bramzon and BASL both intended for 

Plaintiffs to rely, and knew that Plaintiffs would rely, on the representations made therein. 

19. Defendants Bramzon and BASL represented to Plaintiffs that Defendant BASL 

had a docket of approximately 12,500 transvaginal cases and 2,500 other cases, including but not 

limited to Xarelto, Pradaxa, Risperdal, IVC blood clot filter, Talc Powder, Invokana, and 

Benicar, thousands of which were in various stages of the settlement process for its clients.  

20. Defendants Bramzon and BASL represented to Plaintiffs that settlement proceeds 

from thousands of products liability cases would be available to redeem the preferred units of 
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membership in TRC Funding (and thereby provide Plaintiffs with a return on their investment), 

according to schedules set forth in the private placement memorandum. 

21. Defendants Bramzon and BASL represented to Plaintiffs that TRC Funding was 

part of a group of several affiliate companies (the “Group”), many of which were Smart Legal’s 

subsidiaries, that had combined their efforts and resources to become one of the largest providers 

of legal case processing and plaintiff support services. 

22. Defendants Bramzon and BASL represented to Plaintiffs that investment in TRC 

Funding would generate substantial returns based on the Group’s detailed plans for using the 

capital to develop and prove thousands of products liability cases using, among other things, the 

Group’s marketing strategies, technology platforms, vendor relationships, processes for case 

management, and fee agreements with Defendant BASL and its co-counsel for the cases. 

23. Defendants Bramzon and BASL represented to Plaintiffs that the Group had 

developed a system for vetting products liability cases and generating an internal rate of return of 

more than 240% within 12 months. 

24. Defendants Bramzon and BASL represented to Plaintiffs that Hammer earned a 

Juris Doctorate and Master of Laws in Taxation from University of Florida and that his four 

years of law practice led him to a career in business, while failing to disclose that in Hammer’s 

four years of law practice he was once reprimanded, twice suspended, and ultimately disbarred 

by the Florida Bar. 

25. Defendants Bramzon and BASL failed to disclose to Plaintiffs that David 

Hammer’s father, Mitch Hammer, who was also involved in management of TRC funding, had 

been criminally convicted of violating securities laws, would be involved in the management of 

TRC Funding.  
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26. Defendants Bramzon and BASL failed to disclose to Plaintiffs that TRC 

Funding’s assets were encumbered by more than $8 million of indebtedness. 

27. Defendants Bramzon and BASL failed to disclose to Plaintiffs that a former 

vendor’s claims against TRC Funding would affect TRC Funding’s ability to perform its 

financial obligations and make the payments required to redeem the preferred units of 

membership in TRC Funding according to the schedules set forth in the private placement 

memorandum.  

28. Defendant Bramzon, on behalf of Defendant BASL, participated in numerous 

telephone conferences between one or more of the Plaintiffs and promoters of TRC Funding.  

29. During these telephone conferences, Defendant Bramzon, on behalf of Defendant 

BASL, made misrepresentations and omissions about, and remained silent during and did not 

correct other promoters’ misrepresentations and omissions about, TRC Funding and the 

circumstances relating to TRC Funding’s ability to perform its financial obligations and make 

the payments required to redeem the preferred units of membership in TRC Funding according to 

the schedules set forth in the private placement memorandum.  

30. At the time of each telephone conference, Defendants Bramzon and BASL both 

intended for Plaintiffs to rely, and knew that Plaintiffs would rely, on the representations made 

therein. 

31. Defendants Bramzon and BASL knew or should have known that all of the 

foregoing representations were false and that all of the foregoing omissions were material to 

Plaintiffs’ decision to purchase preferred units of membership in TRC Funding. 
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32. Plaintiffs relied on the Guaranty and the foregoing representations, and were not 

aware of the foregoing omissions, when Plaintiffs accepted the offering in the private placement 

memorandum and purchased preferred units of membership in TRC Funding, as follows: 

a. Plaintiff Kevin Friedman: $875,000.00 

b. Plaintiff Vijay Patel: $1,000,000.00  

c. Plaintiff George Skaff: $100,000.00 

d. Plaintiff Michael Schoeff: $750,000.00 

e. Plaintiff Jonathan Schoeff: $400,000.00 

33. In the Guaranty, Defendant BASL agreed to perform all of TRC Funding’s 

financial obligations to each Plaintiff to the same extent and with the same force and effect as if 

Defendant BASL had accepted Plaintiffs’ agreements to invest in the securities offered in the 

private placement memorandum. 

34. TRC Funding has failed to perform all of its financial obligations to Plaintiffs and 

has not made any of the payments required to redeem the preferred units of membership in TRC 

Funding according to the schedules set forth in the private placement memorandum. 

35. Defendant BASL has failed to perform all of its financial obligations to Plaintiffs 

and has not made any of the payments required to redeem the preferred units of membership in 

TRC Funding according to schedules set forth in the private placement memorandum. 

36. Plaintiffs are obligated to pay their attorneys a reasonable fee for their services 

and are entitled to recover such fees under the Guaranty. 

Count I – Negligence 

37. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1–36. 
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38. Defendants Bramzon and BASL intended to induce Plaintiffs to purchase 

preferred units of membership in TRC Funding. 

39. As set forth above, Defendants Bramzon and BASL made misrepresentations and 

omissions about TRC Funding and the circumstances relating to TRC Funding’s ability to 

perform its financial obligations and make the payments required to redeem the preferred units of 

membership in TRC Funding according to the schedules set forth in the private placement 

memorandum. 

40. Defendants Bramzon and BASL were negligent in making these 

misrepresentations and omissions. 

41. Plaintiffs justifiably relied on these representations and omissions and as a result 

have suffered damages.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendants, jointly and severally, for 

damages, interest, costs, attorney fees, and any further relief this Court deems proper. 

Count II – Violation of Section 517.301, Florida Statutes 

42. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1–36. 

43. This is a claim for damages against Defendants Bramzon and BASL for violation 

of Florida’s Securities and Investor Protection Act, section 517.301, Florida Statues. 

44. Defendants Bramzon and BASL were promoters of TRC Funding and therefore 

owed Plaintiffs a duty to ensure that full and fair disclosures were made in connection with the 

securities offered to Plaintiffs in the private placement memorandum.  

45. Defendants Bramzon and BASL breached that duty and were negligent in making 

the misrepresentations and omissions set forth above. 
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46. Plaintiffs would not have agreed to purchase preferred units of membership in 

TRC Funding if Plaintiffs had not been misled by these misrepresentation and omissions. 

47. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of section 517.301, 

Florida Statues, Plaintiffs have suffered damages in connection with the purchase of preferred 

units of membership in TRC Funding. 

48. Plaintiffs are entitled to recover prevailing party attorney fees under section 

517.211(6), Florida Statutes. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendants, jointly and severally, for 

damages, attorney fees, interest, costs, and any further relief this Court deems proper. 

Count III – Breach of Guaranty 

49. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1–36. 

50. In consideration for Plaintiffs’ investment in TRC Funding, Defendant BASL 

agreed to the Guaranty. 

51. Defendant BASL breached the Guaranty. 

52. As a result of Defendant BASL’s breach of the Guaranty, Plaintiffs have suffered 

damages. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendant BASL, for damages, 

interest, costs, attorney fees, and any further relief this Court deems proper. 

Demand for Jury Trial 

Plaintiffs demand trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

Case 8:19-cv-00374-CEH-CPT   Document 14   Filed 03/06/19   Page 8 of 9 PageID 61



9 

/s/ J. Carter Andersen    
J. Carter Andersen, Esq., FBN 143626 
Harold Holder, Esq., FBN 118733  
Bush Ross, PA. 
P.O. Box 3913 | 1801 N. Highland Ave. 
Tampa, FL 33602 
T: (813) 224-9255 | F: (813) 223-9620 
Primary candersen@bushross.com; 
hholder@bushross.com  
Secondary:  kpomponio@bushross.com; 
aflowers@bushross.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on March 6, 2019, I caused a copy of the foregoing to be served on 

Defendants Lonny Bramzon and Bramzon & Associates Specialty Litigation, LLC, via U.S. mail 

to 8621 Georgia Avenue, Apt. 1608, Silver Spring, MD 20910-3894 and email to 

defender@bramzonlaw.com.  

  /s/ J. Carter Andersen    
 Attorney 
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